UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Previously Published Works

Title

Generative machine learning for detector response modeling with a conditional normalizing flow

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3441w1cr

Journal Journal of Instrumentation, 19(02)

ISSN 1748-0221

Authors

Xu, Allison Han, Shuo Ju, Xiangyang <u>et al.</u>

Publication Date 2024-02-01

DOI

10.1088/1748-0221/19/02/p02003

Copyright Information

This work is made available under the terms of a Creative Commons Attribution License, available at <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>

Peer reviewed

Generative Machine Learning for Detector Response Modeling with a Conditional Normalizing Flow

Allison Xu¹ Shuo Han² Xiangyang Ju³ Haichen Wang^{2,4}

¹Department of Statistics, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA ²Physics Division, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA ³Scientific Data Division, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA ⁴Department of Physics, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA *E-mail:* allisonxu@berkeley.edu, shuohan@lbl.gov, xju@lbl.gov, haichenwang@berkeley.edu

ABSTRACT: In this paper, we explore the potential of generative machine learning models as an alternative to the computationally expensive Monte Carlo (MC) simulations commonly used by the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) experiments. Our objective is to develop a generative model capable of efficiently simulating detector responses for specific particle observables, focusing on the correlations between detector responses of different particles in the same event and accommodating asymmetric detector responses. We present a conditional normalizing flow model (CNF) based on a chain of Masked Autoregressive Flows, which effectively incorporates conditional variables and models high-dimensional density distributions. We assess the performance of the CNF model using a simulated sample of Higgs boson decaying to diphoton events at the LHC. We create reconstruction-level observables using a smearing technique. We show that conditional normalizing flows can accurately model complex detector responses and their correlation. This method can potentially reduce the computational burden associated with generating large numbers of simulated events while ensuring that the generated events meet the requirements for data analyses. We make our code available at https://github.com/allixu/normalizing_flow_for_detector_response

KEYWORDS: Conditional Normalizing Flow, Generative Model, Detector simulation, LHC

Contents

1	Introduction	1		
2	Conditional Normalizing Flows	3		
3	Data Samples	3		
	3.1 Event Generation	3		
	3.2 Detector Response	4		
	3.3 Experimental Effects in Photon Detection and Reconstruction	4		
	3.4 Parameterization	5		
	3.5 Scenarios	5		
4	Model Architecture	6		
5	Results	7		
6	Discussion	11		
7	Conclusions	12		

1 Introduction

The Monte Carlo (MC) simulation frameworks utilized by the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) experiments [1–3] play a crucial role in the success of its physics program, which probes physics beyond the Standard Model through precision measurements and direct searches. These MC simulation frameworks have been extensively tuned to model particle collisions and detector effects. In general, a simulation framework used by an LHC experiment is a chain of multiple components, including event generation, detector simulation, and event reconstruction. Each of these components may be further factorized into more focused tasks, which are primarily first-principle based, simulating the physics process or detector response according to our best theoretical and phenomenological knowledge of the collision process and detector material, respectively. However, the simulation of MC samples, especially the modeling of detector response, is computationally expensive. As the LHC continues to operate successfully, particularly with its upcoming high luminosity program, existing simulation schemes face difficulties in meeting the computational demands that come with the significant increase in integrated luminosity.

The application of generative machine learning as a surrogate for certain aspects or the entirety of the Monte Carlo (MC) simulation utilized at the LHC is a promising solution actively being investigated by the high energy physics community. A significant area of development is the use of generative machine learning to model particle shower development in detectors [4–11]. Recently, the ATLAS experiment at the LHC has incorporated a Generative Adversarial Networks (GAN)

based fast calorimeter shower simulation into its fast detector simulation framework [12]. Another active area of investigation is the use of generative machine learning to model the collision, parton showering, hadronization, and jet formation processes [13–19]. In terms of choice of machine learning architecture, Ref.s [4, 5, 12, 13, 16, 17, 19, 20] utilized Generative Adversarial Networks (GAN), Ref.s [7, 8] adopted autoencoders, Ref.s [9, 10, 18, 21, 22] exploited normalizing flows, and Ref. [11] explored diffusion models. More detailed reviews of the state of the art of generative machine learning for particle physics can be found in Ref.s [23, 24].

In this paper, we target a different use case of generative machine learning. Many data analyses, targeting specific signatures, often do not need the detailed information of the collision final state produced from the full simulation framework. For example, in ATLAS $H \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$ and $H \rightarrow \mu\mu$ measurements, high-statistics background samples are generated for background modeling, and the equivalent integrated luminosity of these samples can be as large as 30 ab⁻¹ [25, 26]. In addition, as the Higgs boson measurements enter a precision phase, many analyses would require the simulation of a large number of signal samples with alternative physics parameters such as those defined in the Standard Model effective field theory, which is used in interpreting the observed results. Deploying the full simulation chain that uses GEANT4 package [27] to simulate detailed interactions between particles and detector materials is often unnecessarily inefficient and in some cases unrealistic, for such tasks.

A generative machine learning model that inputs generator-level particle variables and generates the detector responses for specified particle observables is all we need for this kind of analysis use case. We identified the following design objectives: the model should learn the detector response to a given observable as a function of conditional variables; the model should learn the correlation between detector responses of different particles in the same event; and the model should learn asymmetric detector response, which is commonplace in particle detection. Some recent works [28] explored similar objectives using generative models incorporating novel attention mechanisms. In our work, we designed a conditional normalizing flow model (CNF) to achieve these objectives. The CNF model is based on a chain of Masked Autoregressive Flows [29], which combines the advantages from the normalizing flow [30] and the autoregressive density estimation [31]. The CNF model can naturally include conditional variables and model high dimensional density distributions. This work parallels that of Ref. [22] in utilizing an invertible normalizing flow architecture; however, our objectives differ. While this study focuses on generating detector responses, Ref. [22] aims to unfold detector-level observables back to the parton-level scattering amplitude. Compared to fast simulation approaches based on smearing techniques, such as those used in DELPHES [32], the generative machine learning approach offers a straightforward method for modeling complex detector responses. This is particularly useful when the response shapes cannot be easily described by analytical functions or when there are correlations between detector responses.

We characterized the performance of the $CN\mathcal{F}$ model using a simulated sample of Higgs boson decaying to diphoton $(H \rightarrow \gamma \gamma)$ events at the LHC. For this sample, we engineered various physics-motivated detector response scenarios and created reconstruction-level observables using a smearing technique similar to that adopted by the fast detector simulation package DELPHES [32]. This paper is organized as follows: Section 2 reviews conditional normalizing flows; Section 3 describes the event generation and the smearing technique used to introduce experimental effects; Section 4 presents the architecture and training configuration of our conditional normalizing flows model in more detail, and Section 5 shows the performance of the CNF tool in various scenarios; Section 6 summarizes the findings and discusses potential applications and extensions of this tool as well as interesting future directions. Section 7 concludes the paper.

2 Conditional Normalizing Flows

A normalizing flow is a technique that transforms a simple base density distribution $\pi(\vec{z})$ to a more complex target density distribution $p(\vec{x})$ using a bijective, differentiable function known as a bijection $\vec{x} = f(\vec{z})$. In an application of the normalizing flow, the \vec{x} would be features to learn and generate, while \vec{z} are random variables generated by a base density distribution. A normalizing flow often uses a chain of bijections to construct the final bijection, which allows the modeling of complex target distributions. To make the normalizing flow learnable and computationally efficient, a bijection is often chosen to be a simple function and the coefficients of the function are parameterized by neural networks, often by the MultiLayer Perceptrons (MLPs). Applying the change of variables method, as described in Equation 2, a normalizing flow can estimate the target density distribution with the input vector \vec{x} . The learnable weights in the neural network \vec{w} are then optimized by minimizing the negative log-likelihood function $\mathcal{L}(\vec{w}|\vec{x}) = -\mathbb{E}_x[\log p_w(\vec{x})]$. A normalizing flow can be extended to a conditional normalizing flow by concatenating the conditional vector \vec{c} with the input vector \vec{x} and using the combined vector to estimate the target density distribution.

$$p(\vec{x}) = \pi(\vec{z}) |\det J_f(\vec{z})|^{-1} = \pi(f^{-1}(\vec{x})) |\det J_{f^{-1}}(\vec{x})|$$
(2.1)
where $J_f(\vec{z})$ is the Jacobian matrix of the function f with respect to \vec{z}

Our $CN\mathcal{F}$ implementation was based on a type of normalizing flows, known as the Masked Autoregressive Flows (MAF). In MAF, the bijection transforms the base density distribution by sequentially transforming each dimension based on the previously transformed dimensions. This autoregressive feature transforms depending on the ordering of the input vector and is slow for sampling. To minimize the ordering effect, we added a permutation bijection to each MAF.

In this work, we achieve the generation of detector responses that vary as functions of particle kinematics and event conditions with a conditional normalizing flow model. The target density distribution $p(\vec{x})$ is a multidimensional distribution that describes the detector responses of particle kinematic observables X and their correlation. The conditional vector comprises particle kinematics and event variables on which target detector responses depend.

3 Data Samples

3.1 Event Generation

This study simulated the Higgs boson production in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV. The Higgs boson subsequently decays into a pair of photons. The events were generated by the Madgraph@NLO (v2.3.7) [33] at next-to-leading order (NLO) accuracy in QCD. The Higgs boson decay, and the

parton showering and hadronization processes, were implemented by Pythia 8.235 [34] with the CTEQ6L1 parton distribution function set [35]. A total of seven million events were generated. For the study, events were required to have at least two photons, each of which should have a transverse energy (E_T) greater than 20 GeV and an absolute value of pseudorapidity (η) of less than 2.5.

3.2 Detector Response

For a collider observable X, we express its reconstructed value, X_{reco} , as the sum of its true value, X_{true} , and a term, Δ_X , resulting from the experimental effects in the particle detection and reconstruction: $X_{reco} = X_{true} + \Delta_X$. In this study, we define Δ_X as a random variable representing the *detector response* of observable X. For an ensemble of X measurements, the distribution of its detector response Δ_X can be modeled by a location-scale family probability density function, $f(\Delta_X, \mu(\theta), \sigma(\theta))$, where μ and σ are the location and scale of the function and θ denotes the dependencies of μ and σ .

In lieu of a detector simulation, we can create a proxy of X_{reco} for a given X_{true} by randomly sampling the detector response function $f(\Delta_X, \mu, \sigma)$ and deriving X_{reco} from $X_{\text{true}} + \Delta_X$. We used this technique to create detector response and reconstruction-level observables that are considered as targets for the $CN\mathcal{F}$ model.

3.3 Experimental Effects in Photon Detection and Reconstruction

Collider experiments measure photons with an electromagnetic calorimeter (ECAL). For example, the ECAL at the ATLAS experiment is a LAr sampling calorimeter that uses lead/stainless steel as absorbing material and liquid Argon as sampling material [36]; the CMS experiment has a homogeneous ECAL constructed with Lead-Tungstate crystals [37]. The two experiments, adopting complementary calorimeter technologies, achieve similar photon detection and reconstruction performances. Both used the Crystal Ball or double-sided Crystal Ball functions to model the detector response of photon energy measurements [38, 39]. Such functions include a Gaussian function to model the core part of the detector response distribution, and power-law functions to model the tails. Various instrumentation effects, such as photon conversions in materials upstream of the calorimeter, the presence of inactive materials in the calorimeter, energy leakage, etc., can introduce a small low energy tail in the energy detector response distribution. For other observables such as the pseudo rapidity η and azimuthal angle ϕ , the detector response may be modeled by a Gaussian function.

At the LHC experiments, multiple proton collisions occur during the same bunch crossing, and this phenomenon is known as *pile up*. The extent of pile up is quantified by the average number of proton interactions per bunch crossing, μ , which has a mean value greater than 30 for the 2017-2018 data-taking periods of ATLAS and CMS experiments [40, 41]. Contributions from pile-up collisions deteriorate the measurements of particles arising from the primary collision. As a result, the detector response also depends on μ .

The correlation between measurements of various particles within the same collision event also needs to be considered. For instance, when determining the photon pseudo-rapidity, the collision event primary vertex is used as the photon origin, leading to correlations in the pseudo-rapidity measurements of photons in the same event. The use of pile-up suppression techniques in collider experiments also results in correlations between measurements of different photons, because both measurements receive corrections related to the global energy density of the same collision event.

For an LHC experiment, the reconstruction efficiency of an electromagnetic shower is typically beyond 99% [42]. In data analysis, additional requirements such as photon identification and isolation criteria may be further introduced. The selection efficiency of photons is dependent on its transverse energy and pseudorapidity. As a proof of principle, we do not consider the photon selection efficiency as part of the detector response model. Nonetheless, one could extend the study to incorporate effects of photon identification and isolation criteria.

3.4 Parameterization

In this study, we consider the following photon observables: the transverse energy (E_T) , the energy projection to the plane perpendicular to the beam axis, the pseudorapidity (η) , and the azimuthal angle (ϕ) . Given these observables for each of the two photons in an $H \rightarrow \gamma \gamma$ event, we can reconstruct the four momentum of the diphoton system, which is a proxy for the Higgs boson.

Resolutions of these photon observables vary as a function of its truth-level transverse energy and pseudo-rapidity and the event pile-up μ . Specifically, for each photon observable, the photon resolution dependencies are parameterized as follows:

$$R_{E_{\rm T}}(E_{\rm T,true},\eta_{\rm true},\mu) = 1.5 \times R_{E_{\rm T}}(E_{\rm T,true}) \cdot R_{E_{\rm T}}(\eta_{\rm true}) \cdot R_{E_{\rm T}}(\mu)$$
(3.1)

$$R_{\eta}(E_{\text{T,true}}, \eta_{\text{true}}, \mu) = 0.0005 \times R_{\eta}(E_{\text{T,true}}) \cdot R_{\eta}(\eta_{\text{true}}) \cdot R_{\eta}(\mu)$$
(3.2)

$$R_{\phi}(E_{\mathrm{T,true}},\eta_{\mathrm{true}},\mu) = 0.0003 \times R_{\phi}(E_{\mathrm{T,true}}) \cdot R_{\phi}(\eta_{\mathrm{true}}) \cdot R_{\phi}(\mu)$$
(3.3)

where the resolution's dependencies are modeled separately by fourth-order polynomials $R_X(\theta)$ where X represents a photon observable, and θ are truth-level variables on which photon resolutions depend. The constants in the resolution functions are roughly corresponding to the best resolution values in the parameterization, which are chosen to be compatible with numbers published by the ATLAS experiment [38]. The polynomial parameterization is given in the Appendix. Figure 2 shows the resolution of measurements of photon kinematic observables E_T , η , and ϕ , as functions of true values of photon E_T and η , as well as pile-up μ .

3.5 Scenarios

We test three different detector response scenarios, which differ in their definitions of the detector response function and the scheme for correlating detector responses between photons. These scenarios are detailed as follows:

Baseline The photon detector response function $f_X(\Delta_X, \mu(\theta), \sigma(\theta))$ is a normal distribution with a mean of zero and width of $R_X(E_T, \eta, \mu)$. The use of a normal distribution to model the detector response is a simplification in the case of the energy detector response, where a small asymmetry towards lower energy is present due to various instrumentation effects. For each of the two photons in the event, its detector response Δ_X was sampled from this normal distribution with true values of photon E_T , η , and the event μ as input. The event μ , shared by two photons, was randomly sampled from a uniform distribution between 0 and 40. In the baseline scenario, the detector responses are independent between photons and are normally distributed. **Correlation** We generated detector responses for the two photons in a correlated manner. For a given observable *X*, we used the procedure described in the baseline scenario to create independent detector responses for the two photons (denoted as $\Delta_{X,1}$ and $\Delta_{X,2}$ respectively). The ordering of the photon is not critical, and we choose to order photons by their transverse energies. To introduce a correlation between the detector responses of two photons, we redefined the detector response for the second photon as follows:

$$\Delta_{X,2}^{\text{redefined}} = \rho^2 \Delta_{X,1} + \sqrt{1 - \rho^2} \Delta_{X,2}$$
(3.4)

where the parameter ρ controls the correlation. This parameterization does not aim to replicate any physical correlation scenario between the two photon detector responses. Instead, its purpose is to introduce a controlled correlation in the detector responses, thereby testing the performance of the normalizing flow method. To validate whether our generative model accurately captured the correlation, we created two target samples of events, setting the correlation parameter ρ to either 1.0 or 0.5.

Asymmetric detector response Due to instrumentation effects, the detector response distribution could be asymmetric, e.g., the ATLAS and CMS experiments use Crystal Ball or double-sided Crystal Ball functions to model their energy detector response. To emulate this behavior in a simplified approach, we define the detector response function as a linear combination of two normal distributions. The core of this detector response function is identical to the normal distribution defined in the baseline scenario. The tail is modeled as a normal distribution with a broader width and a mean that is shifted downwards relative to the central normal distribution, and its mean is lower by three standard deviations from the mean of the central distribution. These core and tail normal distributions are combined with respective weights of 84% and 16%. These asymmetric detector response functions are shown in Figure 6. The detector responses are drawn independently between two photons.

4 Model Architecture

In this work, a $CN\mathcal{F}$ model is trained to learn the transformation that maps a multi-dimensional normal base density distribution onto a target vector \vec{x} . This target vector comprises the detector responses of six photon kinematic variables, namely, the $E_{\rm T}$, η , and ϕ for each of the two photons, making the base density distribution six-dimensional. The conditional vector \vec{c} provided to the $CN\mathcal{F}$ model includes the pileup condition μ and the particle-level kinematic variables $X_{\rm true}$, where $X \in \{E_{\rm T}^{\gamma 1}, E_{\rm T}^{\gamma 2}, \eta^{\gamma 1}, \eta^{\gamma 2}\}$. Superscripts $\gamma 1$ and $\gamma 2$ denote the two distinct photons. The azimuthal angle ϕ is excluded from the conditional input, as collider detectors like ATLAS and CMS exhibit symmetry in ϕ , resulting in uniform performance in that dimension.

In the inference step, the $CN\mathcal{F}$ model transforms the six-dimensional base density distribution into the six-dimensional distribution of the target \vec{x} . The features used as conditional inputs, along with those constituting the target \vec{x} , are summarized in Table 1.

Conditional Features	Target Features
$E_{\mathrm{T}}^{\gamma1}, E_{\mathrm{T}}^{\gamma2}$	$\Delta_{E_{ au}^{\gamma_1}}, \Delta_{E_{ au}^{\gamma_2}}$
$\eta^{\gamma 1}, \eta^{\gamma 2}$	$\Delta_{\eta^{\gamma_1}}, \Delta_{\eta^{\gamma_2}}$
pile-up μ	$\Delta_{\phi^{\gamma_1}}, \Delta_{\phi^{\gamma_2}}$

Table 1. A summary of the conditional features, and input and output features of the model.

The target detector responses of the photon $E_{\rm T}$, η , and ϕ are scaled to be within [-1, 1]. Accordingly, a tanh bijection is added as the last bijection in the CNF to ensure the output detector responses are also within [-1, 1]. Events that render an absolute value of the scaled detector response above one were discarded in the study. The fraction of rejected events is negligible for the *baseline* scenario and the *correlation* scenario, and it is about 8% in the *asymmetric detector effect* scenario. The data sample was split into 80% for training, 10% for validation, and 10% for testing. The validation sample was used to tune the hyperparameters of the model, and the testing sample was used to study the performance of the CNF model.

The hyperparameters of the $CN\mathcal{F}$ are described as follows. First, the base density distribution, $\pi(\vec{z})$, is chosen to be a multivariate normal distribution, motivated by the overall similarity between detector response distributions and normal distributions. Second, the MLPs inside each MAF module consist of two layers of dense networks with a layer size of 128 and a ReLU activation function [43]. When we increased the layer size or the number of layers by a factor of two, no significant improvement was observed. Third, we used ten bijection blocks as a result of a trade-off between computational expense and model complexity. Increasing the number of bijection blocks to 20 did not result in any performance improvement compared to the nominal setup of ten bijection blocks. The model might have gained additional improvement if additional training epochs were pursued. Fourth, instead of using a constant learning rate, we employed the Adam [44] optimizer with a learning rate scheduler that decays the learning rate from 10^{-3} to 10^{-5} following a power-law distribution; doing so smoothed the training loss distribution and boosted the performance.

All models were trained with 500 epochs and the best model is chosen for testing. We chose to use the "Wasserstein Distance" (WD) [45], a measure of the distance between two probability distributions, to monitor the model performance during the course of training. The WD for a given variable is evaluated between its target and generated distributions. We define the mean Wasserstein Distance, \overline{WD} , as the arithmetic mean of the WD values for the six photon detector response variables. After each epoch, the \overline{WD} is evaluated using the validation sample. Figure 1 shows the \overline{WD} for each epoch and the minimum \overline{WD} up to that epoch, as evaluated on the validation sample. The model that yields the minimum \overline{WD} is selected for our study.

5 Results

For each scenario outlined in Sec. 3.5, we trained a separate CNF model. We then applied the trained model to the test samples and computed reconstruction-level photon kinematic variables using generated detector responses. The sample where the reconstruction-level variables are created from the smearing technique is referred to as the target sample, and the sample where the



Figure 1. The mean Wasserstein Distance (orange) and the minimum Wasserstein distance (blue) as a function of the training epochs for the baseline scenario. These quantities were evaluated on the validation sample.

reconstruction-level variables are calculated from the $CN\mathcal{F}$ generated detector responses is referred to as the $CN\mathcal{F}$ sample.

Baseline scenario To quantify the extent in which the $CN\mathcal{F}$ learns the detector response accurately, we calculated the detector resolutions of photons as a function of photon four momenta at the particle level. The detector resolution is defined as the width of the core of the detector response distribution, Δ_X . Figure 2 shows a good agreement between the target detector resolutions and the $CN\mathcal{F}$ learned ones as functions of photon E_T and η and event μ . The largest discrepancy is less than 5%. Figure 3 shows the comparison of the target and learned distributions. In regions where the statistics of simulated events are low, such as the high E_T region, the performance of $CN\mathcal{F}$ would benefit from more simulation events in future studies.

We also calculated the invariant mass and transverse momentum of the diphoton system using the target sample and the CNF sample. Figure 4 shows the comparison of their distributions. The mean and standard deviation values in the diphoton invariant mass distribution from the CNFsample are in agreement with those from the target sample within the statistical precision. For the diphoton transverse momentum distribution, an agreement between the target and the CNFsamples is seen across the full range.



Figure 2. Target and generated photon resolutions σ for photon kinematic variables E_T , η , and ϕ . The resolutions are shown as functions of the true values of photon E_T and η , and the event pile-up μ . The blue (orange) entries represent the target (generated) quantities. The target resolutions corresponding to the *baseline* parameterization presented in Section 3.4.



Figure 3. Normalized distributions of photon kinematic variables for the target (blue) and generated (orange) samples. The last bin in the E_T distribution contains the overflow entries.



Figure 4. Comparison of the detector-level invariant mass, $m_{\gamma\gamma}$, and transverse momentum of the diphoton system between the target distribution and the $CN\mathcal{F}$ -generated distribution. The two spikes at the edges of the diphoton invariant mass distribution arise from the inclusion of overflow and underflow entries. The mean and the standard deviation (SD) of the invariant mass distribution are calculated in the mass range of [120, 130] GeV.

Correlation scenario Two sets of target samples were generated, with the correlation parameter ρ set to 0.5 and 1.0. The CNF model was trained separately for these two samples. Detector responses were generated for the six measurements in the event. Their correlation matrix is shown in Figure 5 using $\rho = 0.5$ sample. The built-in correlation of $\rho = 0.5$ was accurately reproduced. The same performance was also achieved in the case of $\rho = 1.0$. These tests indicate that the CNF model can accurately reproduce the correlations between the two photons that were built into the measurements.



Figure 5. Correlation map of the kinematic resolution of the leading and sub-leading photons for a correlation coefficient of $\rho = 0.5$. Similar performance is observed for the $\rho = 1.0$. In the target correlation map, all off-diagonal entries except those designed to be 50% correlated are zeros.



Figure 6. Distributions of detector responses for photon kinematic variables E_T , η , and ϕ are shown for the target sample (blue) and the generated sample (orange), in the asymmetric detector effect scenario.

Asymmetric detector responses scenario Figure 6 shows the target and generated detector response distributions. The asymmetric tails in various detector response distributions are reproduced by the CNF model.

6 Discussion

The studies presented here demonstrate the potential of using normalizing flow-based generative machine learning to model detector responses. In the baseline scenario, we have shown that complex dependencies of detector response on multiple variables can be effectively learned by the $CN\mathcal{F}$ model. The correlation and asymmetric detector response scenarios further illustrate the relative advantages of the generative approach compared to smearing-based techniques. Existing smearing-based techniques tend to fall short when dependencies of the detector response on other variables cannot be parameterized analytically or when such parameterization is not straightforward. Moreover, the smearing approach becomes more complex when modeling asymmetric or other irregular detector responses.

For future work, it would be interesting to explore how the performance of the $CN\mathcal{F}$ model depends on the implementation of normalizing flows, the choice of base density function, and the model's hyperparameters. For instance, starting with a base density distribution inspired by a known simulation sample, where the detector response already bears some similarities to the target response, might expedite the training process and potentially enhance the $CN\mathcal{F}$ model's performance.

The $CN\mathcal{F}$ model can be extended to cover other types of detector responses. For instance, in this work, we did not account for the selection efficiency of photons, which is influenced by the application of identification and isolation criteria. These criteria are dependent on the photon's transverse energy, pseudo-rapidity, and event pile-up (μ). The outcome of the photon identification and isolation selection process can be modeled as a binary random variable with values of 0 and 1, where the mean corresponds to the selection efficiency.

Generally, collision events comprise various particle types, each with distinct detector responses, and their multiplicities can also differ between events. Our model is versatile and can be adapted to create detector responses for events containing a larger number and diversity of particles. For instance, one can expand the model's output to produce detector responses for more than two particles simultaneously or apply this model to generate detector responses for a single particle, then sequentially apply it to particle types within the same event.

Given that one of the goals of the generative machine learning method for detector response modeling is to expedite the simulation process, a comparison with other solutions featuring different technical implementations, such as the one in Ref. [28], would be beneficial. Additionally, examining various types of detector responses and different correlation scenarios between particles in the final state could provide insight into the strengths and weaknesses of different architectures.

7 Conclusions

In this study, we have explored the use of generative machine learning, specifically a conditional normalizing flow model (CNF), as a viable alternative to traditional Monte Carlo simulations for modeling detector responses in LHC experiments. Our CNF model, leveraging the Masked Autoregressive Flows, has demonstrated its effectiveness in capturing complex dependencies and correlations in detector responses, as well as managing asymmetric response scenarios.

Our results indicate that the CNF model can accurately simulate detector responses for various particle observables, significantly reducing the computational load compared to conventional simulation techniques. This is particularly noteworthy in scenarios where traditional smearing techniques are inadequate, such as in situations with complex dependencies or asymmetric responses.

Appendix

The variation of the resolution is parameterized as $R_X(x) = \frac{\sum_i p_i x^i}{C}$, where X is the measured quantity, x is the variable on which the resolution depends, p_i is the coefficient of the polynomial, and C is a normalization constant. These parameter values are given in Table 2.

Table 2 . Values of p_0 , p_1 , p_2 , p_3 , p_4 , C .										
	p_0	p_1	p_2	<i>p</i> ₃	p_4	С				
$R_{E_T}(E_T)$	1.81	-0.56	0.28	-0.044	0.0024	1.46				
$R_{E_T}(\eta)$	1.74	1.04	-0.59	0.10	-0.0057	1.64				
$R_{E_T}(\mu)$	1.74	0.058	0.0041	-0.0031	0.00031	1.74				
$R_{\eta}(E_{T})$	0.00048	-6.7e-5	1.5e-5	-1.7e-6	7.8e-8	0.00032				
$R_{\eta}(\eta)$	0.00066	-0.00023	5.5e-5	-6.3e-6	3.3e-7	0.00030				
$R_{\eta}(\mu)$	0.00033	2.5e-5	-9.7e-6	2.0e-6	-1.5e-7	0.00033				
$R_{\phi}(E_{T})$	0.0014	-0.00021	1.0e-5	1.6e-6	-1.6e-7	0.00054				
$R_{\phi}(\eta)$	0.00091	0.00025	-0.00016	3.0e-5	-1.6e-6	0.00078				
$R_{\phi}(\mu)$	0.00076	-9.2e-6	2.1e-5	-3.6e-6	1.9e-7	0.00076				

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE), Office of Science (SC) under contract DE-AC02-05CH11231 and by the DOE award DE-SC0023718. This research used resources of the National Energy Research Scientific Computing Center (NERSC), a DOE SC User Facility operated under Contract No. DE-AC02-05CH11231.

References

- ATLAS collaboration, *The ATLAS Simulation Infrastructure*, *Eur. Phys. J. C* 70 (2010) 823 [1005.4568].
- [2] CMS collaboration, CMS Physics: Technical Design Report Volume 1: Detector Performance and Software, .
- [3] LHCB collaboration, LHCb TDR computing technical design report, .
- [4] M. Paganini, L. de Oliveira and B. Nachman, CaloGAN : Simulating 3D high energy particle showers in multilayer electromagnetic calorimeters with generative adversarial networks, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 014021 [1712.10321].
- [5] M. Erdmann, J. Glombitza and T. Quast, Precise simulation of electromagnetic calorimeter showers using a Wasserstein Generative Adversarial Network, Comput. Softw. Big Sci. 3 (2019) 4 [1807.01954].
- [6] A. Collaboration, *Atlfast3: The next generation of fast simulation in atlas, Journal of Physics: Conference Series* **1792** (2021) 012001.
- [7] E. Buhmann, S. Diefenbacher, E. Eren, F. Gaede, G. Kasieczka, A. Korol et al., *Getting high: High fidelity simulation of high granularity calorimeters with high speed, Computing and Software for Big Science* 5 (2021) 3.
- [8] A. Abhishek, E. Drechsler, W. Fedorko and B. Stelzer, *CaloDVAE : Discrete Variational Autoencoders for Fast Calorimeter Shower Simulation*, 10, 2022 [2210.07430].
- [9] C. Krause, I. Pang and D. Shih, CaloFlow for CaloChallenge Dataset 1, 2210.14245.
- [10] C. Krause and D. Shih, *CaloFlow: Fast and Accurate Generation of Calorimeter Showers with Normalizing Flows*, 2106.05285.
- [11] V. Mikuni and B. Nachman, Score-based generative models for calorimeter shower simulation, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 092009 [2206.11898].
- [12] ATLAS Collaboration, AtlFast3: The Next Generation Of Fast Simulation in ATLAS, Comput. Softw. Big Sci. 6 (2021) 7 [2109.02551].
- [13] A. Butter, T. Plehn and R. Winterhalder, How to GAN LHC Events, SciPost Phys. 7 (2019) 075 [1907.03764].
- [14] M. Touranakou, N. Chernyavskaya, J. Duarte, D. Gunopulos, R. Kansal, B. Orzari et al., Particle-based fast jet simulation at the LHC with variational autoencoders, Mach. Learn. Sci. Tech. 3 (2022) 035003 [2203.00520].
- [15] E. Buhmann, G. Kasieczka and J. Thaler, *EPiC-GAN: Equivariant Point Cloud Generation for Particle Jets*, 2301.08128.
- [16] R. Di Sipio, M. Faucci Giannelli, S. Ketabchi Haghighat and S. Palazzo, *DijetGAN: A Generative-Adversarial Network Approach for the Simulation of QCD Dijet Events at the LHC, JHEP* 08 (2019) 110 [1903.02433].

- [17] S. Otten, S. Caron, W. de Swart, M. van Beekveld, L. Hendriks, C. van Leeuwen et al., Event Generation and Statistical Sampling for Physics with Deep Generative Models and a Density Information Buffer, Nature Commun. 12 (2021) 2985 [1901.00875].
- [18] B. Stienen and R. Verheyen, Phase space sampling and inference from weighted events with autoregressive flows, SciPost Phys. 10 (2021) 038 [2011.13445].
- [19] S. Choi and J.H. Lim, A Data-driven Event Generator for Hadron Colliders using Wasserstein Generative Adversarial Network, J. Korean Phys. Soc. 78 (2021) 482 [2102.11524].
- [20] H. Hashemi, N. Hartmann, S. Sharifzadeh, J. Kahn and T. Kuhr, Ultra-High-Resolution Detector Simulation with Intra-Event Aware GAN and Self-Supervised Relational Reasoning, 2303.08046.
- [21] S. Diefenbacher, E. Eren, F. Gaede, G. Kasieczka, C. Krause, I. Shekhzadeh et al., *L2LFlows: Generating High-Fidelity 3D Calorimeter Images*, 2302.11594.
- [22] M. Bellagente, A. Butter, G. Kasieczka, T. Plehn, A. Rousselot, R. Winterhalder et al., *Invertible networks or partons to detector and back again*, *SciPost Phys.* 9 (2020) 074.
- [23] A. Butter and T. Plehn, Generative Networks for LHC events, 2008.08558.
- [24] S. Badger et al., Machine Learning and LHC Event Generation, 2203.07460.
- [25] ATLAS Collaboration, A search for the dimuon decay of the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Lett. B **812** (2021) 135980 [2007.07830].
- [26] ATLAS Collaboration, Measurement of the properties of Higgs boson production at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV in the $H \rightarrow \gamma \gamma$ channel using 139 fb⁻¹ of pp collision data with the ATLAS experiment, 2207.00348.
- [27] GEANT4 collaboration, GEANT4-a simulation toolkit, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 506 (2003) 250.
- [28] F.A. Di Bello, E. Dreyer, S. Ganguly, E. Gross, L. Heinrich, M. Kado et al., Conditional Generative Modelling of Reconstructed Particles at Collider Experiments, 2211.06406.
- [29] G. Papamakarios, T. Pavlakou and I. Murray, *Masked autoregressive flow for density estimation*, 1705.07057.
- [30] D. Rezende and S. Mohamed, Variational inference with normalizing flows, in Proceedings of the 32nd International Conference on Machine Learning, F. Bach and D. Blei, eds., vol. 37 of Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, (Lille, France), pp. 1530–1538, PMLR, 07–09 Jul, 2015, https://proceedings.mlr.press/v37/rezende15.html.
- [31] B. Uria, M.-A. Côté, K. Gregor, I. Murray and H. Larochelle, Neural autoregressive distribution estimation, Journal of Machine Learning Research 17 (2016) 1.
- [32] S. Ovyn, X. Rouby and V. Lemaitre, *DELPHES, a framework for fast simulation of a generic collider experiment*, 0903.2225.
- [33] J. Alwall, R. Frederix, S. Frixione, V. Hirschi, F. Maltoni, O. Mattelaer et al., *The automated computation of tree-level and next-to-leading order differential cross sections, and their matching to parton shower simulations, JHEP* **07** (2014) 079 [1405.0301].
- [34] T. Sjöstrand, S. Ask, J.R. Christiansen, R. Corke, N. Desai, P. Ilten et al., An introduction to PYTHIA 8.2, Comput. Phys. Commun. 191 (2015) 159 [1410.3012].
- [35] J. Pumplin, D.R. Stump, J. Huston, H.L. Lai, P.M. Nadolsky and W.K. Tung, New generation of parton distributions with uncertainties from global QCD analysis, JHEP 07 (2002) 012 [hep-ph/0201195].
- [36] ATLAS collaboration, *The ATLAS Experiment at the CERN Large Hadron Collider*, *JINST* **3** (2008) S08003.

- [37] CMS collaboration, The CMS Experiment at the CERN LHC, JINST 3 (2008) S08004.
- [38] ATLAS collaboration, *Electron and photon energy calibration with the ATLAS detector using* 2015–2016 LHC proton-proton collision data, JINST **14** (2019) P03017 [1812.03848].
- [39] CMS collaboration, *Electron and photon reconstruction and identification with the CMS experiment at the CERN LHC, JINST* **16** (2021) P05014 [2012.06888].
- [40] ATLAS collaboration, ATLAS data quality operations and performance for 2015–2018 data-taking, JINST 15 (2020) P04003 [1911.04632].
- [41] CMS collaboration, *Pileup mitigation at CMS in 13 TeV data*, *JINST* 15 (2020) P09018 [2003.00503].
- [42] ATLAS collaboration, Electron and photon performance measurements with the ATLAS detector using the 2015–2017 LHC proton-proton collision data, JINST 14 (2019) P12006 [1908.00005].
- [43] V. Nair and G.E. Hinton, Rectified linear units improve restricted boltzmann machines, ICML 27 (2010) 807 [1003.0358].
- [44] D.P. Kingma and J.L. Ba, Adam: A method for stochastic optimization, in International Conference on Learning Representations (ICLR), 2015 [1412.6980].
- [45] C. Villani, Optimal transport: old and new, vol. 338, Springer Science & Business Media (2008).